

Humanism

Educational Psychology > Humanism

Table of Contents

Abstract

Keywords

Overview

Rogers & Maslow

Figure 1

Humanistic Education

Pioneers of Humanism

Maslow's Hierarchy of Needs

Table 1

Self-Directed Learning

Progressive Education

Applications

Cooperative Learning

The Open Classroom

Role of Technology

A Humanistic Approach to Teaching Reading

Second Language Learning

Viewpoints

Criticisms of Humanism

Terms & Concepts

Bibliography

Suggested Reading

Abstract

Humanist philosophies, under different names, have developed in many cultures worldwide over thousands of years. This article discusses the history and basic tenets of humanism as an educational movement. The philosophies of prominent humanists, including Abraham Maslow, Carl Rogers, and John Dewey, are discussed. Instructional strategies based upon humanistic principles are described. Counter philosophies are briefly outlined.

Overview

Humanism is "a philosophy of life inspired by humanity and guided by reason" (Institute for Humanist Studies, n.d.). Humanism "provides the basis for a fulfilling and ethical life without religion." Humanist philosophies, under different names, have developed in many cultures worldwide over thousands of years.

Humanism as a paradigm, philosophy or pedagogical approach developed in the 1960s in reaction to the psychoanalysis and behaviorism that dominated psychological thought in the first half of the twentieth century. Humanism soon became known as the third force in psychology, leading to the birth of the Journal of Humanistic Psychology in 1961, the formation of the Association of Humanistic Psychology in 1963, and recognition of humanistic psychology as a field by the American Psychological Association in 1971. There are two primary branches of humanism: secular and religious (Huitt, 2000). Secular Humanists believe that individuals have everything they need to grow and develop to their fullest potential. In contrast, Religious Humanists believe that religion plays an important role in human development.

In the educational realm, humanism gained popularity as an alternative to the overly mechanistic approaches to learning and teaching that dominated schools at the time, as well as many cognitive theories of learning and motivation that failed to recognize the importance of student affect in learning (McInerney, 2005). Most learning theories focus on what learning is and how it takes place, focusing on limited aspects of learning such as acquisition, management, and formation of knowledge (Zhou, 2007). These theories neglect the "relevance of learning to the learner as a holistic experience of personal growth" (Zhou, 2007, p. 131). Humanism, in contrast, "is the only learning theory that

Keywords

Affective

Behaviorism

Cooperative Learning

Educational Theory

Educational Psychology

Learner-Centered

Open Classroom

Paradigm

Philosophy

Progressive Education

Psychoanalysis

Self-Actualization

Self-Directed Learning

Figure 1 Maslow's Hierarchy of Needs

morality. creativity, spontaneity. problem solving, lack of prejudice, acceptance of facts Self-actualization self-esteem, confidence, achievement, respect of others, respect by others Esteem friendship, family, sexual intimacy Love/Belonging security of body, of employment, of resources, of morality, of the family, of health, of property Safety breathing, food, water, sex, sleep, homeostasis, excretion **Physiological**

(From Abraham Maslow, Motivation and Personality, 2nd ed., Harper & Row, 1970)

emphasizes the reciprocal relationship between learning and the learner and the reciprocal relationship between individual actualization and social transformation that make learning a unique human experience" (p. 131).

Humanism views education as a method of fulfilling human potential based upon individuals' needs and interests ("Humanism," 2007). The humanistic approach emphasizes human freedom, dignity, and potential. It is based on the belief that "human beings are capable of making significant personal choices within the constraints imposed by heredity, personal history, and environment" (Elias & Merriam, 1980, p. 118). Humanist principles are grounded in the following major assumptions:

- Human nature is inherently good;
- Individuals are free and autonomous, thus they are capable of making major personal choices;
- · Human potential for growth and development is virtually unlimited;
- Self-concept plays an important role in growth and development;
- Individuals have an urge toward self- actualization;
- Reality is defined by each person; and
- Individuals have responsibility to both themselves and to others (Elias & Merriam, 1980, p. 118).

Rogers & Maslow

These principles provided the foundation for major developments in psychology and education (Hiemstra & Brockett, 1994). The most well known psychologists contributing to this new paradigm were Abraham Maslow and Carl Rogers. Maslow (1970) believed "the process of education should lead to the discovery of identity and understanding of self as a whole person." He developed a motivation theory based on human needs, and his five-level Hierarchy of Human Needs includes physiological/

EBSCO Research Starters® • Copyright © 2008 EBSCO Publishing Inc. • All Rights Reserved

biological needs, safety, belonging and love, need for esteem and self-actualization. Only when lower, more basic order needs are satisfied are individuals capable of attending to higher order needs. On the other hand, if the things that meet the needs disappear, individuals are no longer concerned with higher order needs. For example, children who have witnessed a violent act such as a school shooting and consequently fear for their safety are incapable of learning until they are assured they are safe.

Carl Rogers (1961) developed the concept of "client-centered therapy" designed to help clients develop greater-self-direction. Humanistic education is based on similar ideas. Patterson (1973) believed "the purpose of education is to develop self-actualizing persons" (p. 22). Valett (1977) defined the purpose of humanistic education as the development of "individuals who will be able to live joyous, humane, and meaningful lives" (p. 12).

Humanistic Education

Humanistic education seeks to offer a starting foundation for individual growth and development that allows individuals to learn throughout their lives in a self-directed way (DeCarvalho, 1991). In humanism, education is given on an individual and personal basis, allowing the students to be the center of attention (Ediger, 2006). Education of the whole child is emphasized, and learning is considered a "personal growth experience" (Lamm, 1972). Testing may measure specific learning but humanists believe there are many other ways to evaluate learning (Ediger, 2006). Multiple intelligences (Gardner, 1991) are recognized and celebrated. Because of their diverse skills, talents, abilities, all students should not be held accountable to the same standards.

The major goals of humanistic education are to:

- Accept the learner's needs and purposes and create educational experiences and programs for the development of the learner's unique potential.
- Facilitate the learner's self-actualization and feelings of personal adequacy.
- Foster the acquisition of basic skills and competencies (e.g., academic, personal, interpersonal, communicative, and economic) for living in a multicultural society.
- Personalize educational decisions and practices.
- Recognize the importance of human feelings, values, and perceptions in the educational process.
- Develop a learning climate that is challenging, understanding, supportive, exciting, and free from threat.
- Develop in learners a genuine concern and respect for the worth of others and skill in resolving conflicts (Tomei, 2004, ¶ 2).

Gage and Berliner (1991) define five basic objectives of the humanistic view of education:

- Promote positive self-direction and independence;
- Develop the ability to take responsibility for what is learned;
- Develop creativity;
- · Curiosity; and
- An interest in the arts.

These objectives were developed based upon the following principles (Gage & Berliner, 1991):

- Students will learn best what they want and need to know.
- Knowing how to learn is more important than acquiring a lot of knowledge.
- Self-evaluation is the only meaningful evaluation of a student's work
- Feelings are as important as facts.
- Students learn best in a non-threatening environment.

From a humanistic perspective, teachers strive to make learning more responsive to students' affective (emotions, feelings, values, and attitudes) needs. The focus of teaching is on meeting both the affective and cognitive needs of students to promote their self-actualization in a cooperative, supportive environment ("Humanism," 2007). Thus, teaching is more than presenting subject matter in an organized way; it also involves helping students "derive personal meaning from the information" so they are motivated to learn (Tomei, 2004). An integrated curriculum, with a strong emphasis on the arts, is generally advocated by humanists (Ediger, 2006).

"There are a variety of ways teachers can implement a humanist approach in their teaching" (Huitt, 2001, \P 2). Some of these include:

- Allow students to have a choice in the selection of tasks and activities whenever possible.
- Help students learn to set realistic goals.
- Allow students to participate in group work, especially cooperative learning, in order to develop social and affective skills.
- Act as a facilitator for group discussions when appropriate.
- Act a role model for the attitudes, beliefs and habits you wish to foster in your students, always striving to become a better individual (Huitt, 2001, ¶ 12).
- Although humanism has met with varying degrees of acceptance, Combs' (1978) rationale for the need for humanistic education still holds true three decades later:
 - Problems facing humans are changing daily. We

have created a very complex and interdependent society. Our primary problems are "no longer physical but human ones." In order to prepare students who will be capable of solving current and future problems related to the environment, overpopulation, war, etc. will require an educational system that has a "humanistic orientation."

- The future cannot be predicted. The "information explosion and extraordinary rate of change in modern society" have made it impossible to predict what people will need to know in the future. "New goals for education must be holistic and human. Prime goals must be the development of intelligent behavior, the production of self-propelled, autonomous, creative, problem solving, humane, and caring citizens" (Combs, 1978, p. 301).
- A broader definition of personality to include "mental states and processes" as well as behavior.
- A broader concept of learning that includes not only the conveyance of new knowledge but the personal meaning of information for the individual.
- The importance of the self-concept as a vital part of the learning process.

Pioneers of Humanism

Abraham Maslow and Carl Rogers were instrumental in the development of humanistic thought. Their contributions are summarized here.

Maslow's Hierarchy of Needs

Maslow's Hierarchy of Needs has direct application to student learning (Tomei, 2004; Ediger, 2001). For instance, children who are hungry, sleepy, fearful of their safety, have low self-esteem, and/or have untreated health concerns cannot be expected to learn in the classroom.

Definitions of each level and illustrative educational examples are outlined in the following chart. It should be noted that the hierarchy is dynamic and each level does not exist in isolation. Needs change continually and are based on situations. Behaviors may also cross several levels.

Self-Directed Learning

Carl Rogers believed children have a natural desire to learn. He advocated a child-centered curriculum where children could explore freely to satisfy their academic needs without fear of threat or criticism. He believed in students being self-directed learners through development of self reliance and independence (Ediger, 2001). Rogers believed that schools should provide opportunities for students to select and pursue their own educational interests in order to become lifelong learners, and that teachers should serve primarily as facilitators of learning who share the responsibility of learning with their students (Tomei, 2004). He viewed humanistic teachers as both guides and models, providing students with resources to enable them to learn.

Table 1

Needs	Descriptions	Examples
Physi- ological / Biological	This most basic level includes the most demanding of needs, including hunger, thirst, and the need for shelter.	School breakfast program
		Social work support to insure adequate food, clothing, and housing for students
Safety	These needs include security, protection from harm, and desire for good health.	Identification of child abuse
		Violence prevention programs
		Counseling services
		Health-related services
Belonging and love	These needs include family and friends and acceptance and friendship in relations with others.	Cooperative learning
		Peer assistance programs
		Mentoring
		Recognition of student accomplishments
		Student input invited in curriculum planning
Need for esteem	This need includes need for self-respect, autonomy, achievement, and recognition	Recognition of student accomplishments
		Student input invited in curriculum planning
		Student selection in goal setting
		Student involvement in evaluation
		Teacher-student contracts
Self-actu- alization	This highest level assumes that lower-level needs have been met; the emphasis at this level is on developing individual potential	Student confidence that s/he has reached his/her learning potential

Progressive Education

Another well-known humanist was John Dewey, considered the father of the progressive education movement in the United States (Field, 2007). He believed that education should be student-centered, emphasize the student instead of the subject matter, encourage curiosity, and approach the learning process as equally important to what is being learned. Dewey viewed schools as a microcosm of society and felt they should prepare students to become active, cooperative members of society. He believed that self-directed learning is the best way to prepare students for the "demands of responsible membership within the democratic community."

Applications

Cooperative Learning

Cooperative learning is a teaching and learning strategy whereby students work together in small teams on assigned projects (Education Broadcasting Corporation, 2004). Students are evaluated both individually and as a group. For cooperative learning to be effective, five elements must be present (Tomei, 2004);

- Positive interdependence. Students must share common goals, assign tasks, share resources and information, assume responsibility for different roles, and be rewarded based on group performance.
- Face-to-face interaction. Students must discuss tasks, decide how to approach assignments, and problem solve together. "The importance of helping others is stressed."
- Individual accountability. "Each student must develop a sense of personal responsibility to the group."
- Collaborative skills. Students need to be taught the necessary skills to work together cooperatively.
- Group processing. Students need to discuss and evaluate their progress and learn how to maintain good working relations among team members.

Research indicates that cooperative learning has a positive effect on student achievement, especially development of interpersonal and social skills (Tomei, 2004).

The Open Classroom

The Open Classroom movement as a humanistic approach to elementary education teaching evolved during the late 1960s and early 1970s (Tomei, 2004). Open classrooms include seven basic components:

- Provisions for learning. Students work with a diverse range of materials. They move about and talk freely in the classroom. Students are not grouped according to ability.
- Humaneness, respect, warmth. Use of student-made materials. Teachers deal with behavior problems by communicating with the student without involving the group.
- Diagnosis of learning events. Students correct their own work while teachers observe and ask questions.
- Individualized instruction. Students have no textbooks or workbooks.
- Individualized evaluation. Teachers take notes and assess students individually. Formal testing is minimal.
- Professional growth. Teachers work with other educators to offer a range of diverse learning opportunities.

• Assumptions about students. The environment is "warm and accepting" while involving students closely in all aspects of learning (Tomei, 2004, ¶ 2).

Research on open education indicates it is effective in improving cooperation, creativity, achievement motivation, and independence, but traditional classrooms are more effective on measures of academic achievement (Tomei, 2004).

Role of Technology

Technology has become an integral part of the learning process for students of the twenty-first century (Zhou, 2007). In keeping with humanistic educational philosophy, technology has the capability of providing opportunities for "self-directed, self-motivated, and self-evaluated" learning experiences. It is a powerful tool that can be used "to facilitate and advance a person's freedom to learn" (p. 132). In addition to individual learning, technology also provides a collaborative environment that connects online communities of learners worldwide and promotes social interaction.

A Humanistic Approach to Teaching Reading

In contrast to a state-mandated reading curriculum, humanistic education emphasizes a developmental program in which students sequence their own learning (Ediger, 2002). As an example, students have input in selecting a book to read as a group. Under teacher guidance and supervision, the group discusses what they have read. In addition to discussing facts, concepts, and generalizations based upon what they have comprehended, the students engage in critical thinking, creative thinking, and problem solving. Each student uses his/her individual talents in the creation of a group evaluative project. Each student may also develop an individual portfolio containing a representative sampling of work that documents his/her individual reading achievement. According to Gunning (2000), a rationalization for a humanistic approach to reading instruction includes:

- Motivation for learning to read and reading to learn comes from within the individual student.
- Student interest is a powerful factor in student reading and learning. Giving students a choice increases interest.
- Purpose for reading comes from within the student.
- Sequence of learning comes from within the student.
- Reading achievement and goals come from the student (Gunning, 2000).

Second Language Learning

Second language learning for non-native speakers has been greatly influenced by humanism (Lei, 2007). Second-language teaching is learner-centered, where it is assumed that students learn best when they are treated as individuals with specific needs. Second language teachers create a supportive psychological atmosphere to minimize anxiety and enhance personal security. Both affective and cognitive activities work together to educate the whole student.

Viewpoints

Criticisms of Humanism

Fundamentalists on the religious right criticize humanism for being in conflict with religious principles. In _I_The Christian's Response to Humanism,_i_ Bert Thompson writes: "If there ever existed a formula guaranteed to provide a sin-sick life on this Earth, and a home in hell in the life to come, humanism is it" (Thompson, n.d., p. 11). Thompson asserts that "humanism is not just a system of thought that places a high importance on humans (mankind). Far more than that, humanism is a very subtle, disarming, and sophisticated way of saying 'atheism'" (Thompson, n.d., p. 3).

In Education and New Age Humanism, Russ Wise (1995) expresses his concern that:

Humanism is the dominant view among leading educators in the U.S. They set the trends of modern education, develop the curriculum, dispense federal monies, and advise government officials on educational needs. In short, they hold the future in their hands. As Christian taxpayers we are paying for the overthrow of our own position (Wise, 1995, ¶ 12).

Although humanism emphasizes the "here and now," not all humanists deny the autonomy and existence of a god and believe that educators can maintain their religious beliefs while engaging in humanistic education practices (Hiemstra & Brockett, 1994).

A second criticism of humanism is that it is a self-centered approach to life. Humanists counter this argument with the assertion that individuals find self-actualization, in part, by focusing on problems outside of themselves.

Behaviorist B.F. Skinner argued that less teacher control of student learning, as practiced by humanistic educators, does not imply more student control (Tomei, 2004). Skinner felt that less teacher control would result in other conditions controlling student learning and that teachers needed to understand the behavioral process to facilitate learning. Behaviorists also maintain that an emphasis on students' affect is not sufficient for effective instruction, and that placing a higher value on affect than cognition goals may be harmful for both affective and cognitive development. Cognitivists criticize humanistic education for what they perceive is an "absence of clear direction or purpose in the classroom - direction that provides the structure for knowledge to be constructed," thus preventing mastery of basic skills (Tomei, 2004).

Terms & Concepts

Affective: Affective relates to the experience of feeling or emotion in learning.

Behaviorism: Behaviorism is the idea that all behavior is capable of being described in a scientific manner, rather than

taking into account internal processes such as physiological or hypothetical conducts.

Cooperative Learning: Cooperative learning is an instructional method in which students work together in groups to support individual as well as group learning.

Learner-Centered: Learner-centered is a "perspective that couples a focus on individual learners (their heredity, experiences, perspectives, backgrounds, talents, interests, capacities, and needs) with a focus on learning (the best available knowledge about learning and how it occurs and about teaching practices that are most effective in promoting the highest levels of motivation, learning, and achievement for all learners). This dual focus then informs and drives educational decision making" (McCombs & Whisler, 1997).

Open Classroom: An open classroom is an educational design formatted to center on the students. Some schools were built without walls between classrooms, a design that was popular in American in the 1970s.

Paradigm: Paradigm refers to "an example that serves as a pattern or model for something, especially one that forms the basis of a methodology or theory" (Encarta World English Dictionary, n.d.).

<u>Progressive Education</u>: Progressive education is an educational movement based on the philosophy of John Dewey that was a reaction to formalism. This educational approach focuses on "democratic ideals, creative and purposeful activity, receptivity to student needs, and interaction with the community" (Education Resources Information Center, n.d.).

Self-Actualization: Self-actualization refers to Maslow's last level of psychological development that can be obtained only if and when all other basic and meta needs are fulfilled. This actualizes the individual's own potential.

Self-Directed Learning: Self-directed learning is "a process in which students take the initiative to diagnose their learning needs, formulate learning goals, identify resources for learning, select and implement learning strategies, and evaluate learning outcomes. The role of the instructor shifts from being the 'sage on the stage' to the 'guide on the side' in a self-directed learning environment" (Northeast Texas Consortium, n.d.).

Bibliography

Combs, A. (1978). Humanism, education, and the future. *Educational Leadership, 35*(4) 300-03. Retrieved November 5, 2007 from EBSCO online database, Education Research Complete: http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=ehh&AN=7730482&site=ehost-live

- DeCarvalho, R. (1991). The humanistic paradigm in education. *The Humanistic Psychologist*, *19*(1), 88-104.
- Ediger, M. (2001). *Motivating pupils to learn in mathematics*. (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 449038)
- Ediger, M. (2002). What makes a good reading curriculum? (ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 464314)
- Ediger, M. (2006). Present-day philosophies of education. *Journal of Instructional Psychology*, *33*(3), 179-82.
- Education Broadcasting Corporation. (2004). What are cooperative and collaborative learning? Retrieved November 3, 2007 from thirteened online, http://www.thirteen.org/edonline/concept2class/coopcollab/index.html
- Elias, J. L., & Merriam, S. (1980). *Philosophical foundations of adult education*. Malabar, FL: Krieger.
- Field, R. (2007). John Dewey. *Internet Encyclopedia of Philosophy*. Retrieved November 5, 2007 from http://www.iep.utm.edu/d/dewey.htm
- Gage, N., & Berliner, D. (1991). *Educational psychology* (5th ed.). Boston: Houghton, Mifflin.
- Gardner, H. (1991). *Multiple intelligences: Theory into practice*. New York: Basic Books.
- Gunning, T. (2000). *Creating literacy instruction for all children*. Boston, Allyn and Bacon.
- Humanism. (2007). Learning-Theories.com. Retrieved November 3, 2007 from http://www.learning-theories. com/humanism.html
- Institute for Humanist Studies. (n.d.). *Humanism in brief*. Retrieved November 5, 2007 from Institute for Humanist Studies website: http://www.humaniststudies.org/humphil.html
- Kurtz, P. (2000). *Humanist manifesto 2000: A call for a new planetary humanism*. Amherst, New York: Prometheus Books.
- Lamm, Z. (1972). The structure of knowledge in the radical concept of education. In D.E. Purpel & M. Belanger (Eds.) *Curriculum and the cultural revolution: A book of essays and readings*. Berkeley, CA: McCutchan.
- Lei, Q. (2007). EFL teachers' factors and students' affect. *US-China Education Review*, 4(3), 60-67.

- Maslow, A. H. (1970). *Motivation and personality* (2nd ed.). New York: Harper & Row.
- McCombs, B. L., & Whisler, J. S. (1997). The learner-centered classroom and school:Strategies for increasing student motivation and achievement. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.
- McInerney, Dennis M. (2005). Educational psychology Theory, Research, and Teaching: A 25-year retrospective'. *Educational Psychology*, 25:6, 585 599.
- Northeast Texas Consortium. (n.d.). *Self-directed learn-ing*. Retrieved November 5, 2007 from Northeast Texas Consortium Web site: http://www.netnet.org/students/student%20glossary.htm#S
- Paradigm. (n.d.). Encarta World Dictionary. Retrieved November 5, 1007 from http://encarta.msn.com/dictionary_/Paradigm.html
- Patterson, C. H. (1973). *Humanistic education*. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Progressive Education. (n.d.) Thesaurus. Retrieved November 5, 2007 from Education Resources Information Center Website http://www.eric.ed.gov/ERICWebPortal/Home. portal?_nfpb=true&portlet_thesaurus_1_actionOverr ide=%2Fcustom%2Fportlets%2Fthesaurus%2FgotoD etail&_windowLabel=portlet_thesaurus_1&portlet_t hesaurus_1term=Progressive+Education&portlet_thesaurus_1pageNumber=1& pageLabel=Thesaurus
- Rogers, C. R. (1961). *On becoming a person*. Boston: Houghton-Mifflin.
- Thompson, B. (n.d.). *The Christian's response to humanism*. Montgomery, AL: Apologetics Press.
- Tomei, L. (2004). An examination of humanism: The psychology of the individual student. *Learning theories: A primer exercise*. Retrieved November 3, 2007 from http://academics.rmu.edu/~tomei/ed711psy/human.htm
- Valett, R. E. (1977). *Humanistic education: Developing the total person*. St. Louis: C.V. Mosby.
- Wise, R. (1995). *Education and New Age humanism*. Retrieved November 5, 2007 from Probe Ministries http://www.probe.org/content/view/789/88/

Zhou, L. (2007). Supporting humanistic learning experiences through learning with technology. *International Journal of Learning, 13*(11), 131-36. Retrieved November 5, 2007 from EBSCO online database, Education Research Complete: http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=ehh&AN=24953907&site=ehost-live

Suggested Reading

- Herrick, J. (2005). *Humanism: An introduction*. New York: Prometheus Books.
- Maslow, A. H. (1970). *Motivation and personality* (2nd ed). New York: Harper & Row.
- Rogers, C., & Freiberg, H. J. (1994). *Freedom to learn* (3rd ed.). New York: Macmillan.

Essay by Susanne Carter, M.S.

Susanne Carter is a retired university grant writer and long-time educator in varied K-16 education settings. She holds a Master of Science in Education and works on various freelance projects.

Copyright of Humanism -- Research Starters Education is the property of Great Neck Publishing and its content may not be copied or emailed to multiple sites or posted to a listserv without the copyright holder's express written permission. However, users may print, download, or email articles for individual use.